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II

FOREWORD

Manitoba’s 40th General Election was the focal point of activities for Elections Manitoba in
2011. Many changes came into effect for the recent election, arising from the Bill 37 legislative
amendments in 2008.
The introduction of a set date had significant implications for both the planning and conduct
of the election. Impacts were felt in all departments and at every stage of the process, from
recruitment and training, through enumeration, revision, nominations and voting itself.
The 40th General Election also saw the implementation of new electoral boundaries, following the
December 2008 report of the Electoral Boundaries Commission. Our office carried out extensive
pre-writ work to facilitate the transition, including mapping, redistribution of voting areas and
assignment of new voting locations. The redistribution also affected political parties, as they
dissolved existing constituency associations and formed new ones.
Service to Manitoba voters was enhanced in the recent election through expanded voting
opportunities and improved accessibility. An additional day of advance voting was added, the
number of advance voting places increased, election day voting began one hour earlier, and
several new measures were introduced to assist voters with disabilities.
With respect to our educational and informational mandate, communications and outreach
activities were developed to target voters who are traditionally less likely to exercise their
democratic rights. New projects were introduced to promote electoral participation and
awareness among such groups as new Canadians, people in homeless shelters, women in abuse
shelters, secondary and post-secondary students, as well as young families.
For political participants, amendments to The Elections Finances Act removed the annual
advertising limit for parties and candidates in non-election years and expanded the definition of
advertising expense. A ban on government advertising in the 90-day period before the election
was also introduced. New tools, guides and information sessions were created and deployed to
assist political participants with their compliance obligations.
As 2011 came to a close, the work of evaluation began, as we reviewed all our projects and
processes and surveyed our stakeholders. In 2012, we embark on our strategic planning exercise,
which will lay the foundation for the next general election in 2015.
For their hard work and dedication in preparing for and carrying out the recent election, I am
thankful to many individuals. I would first like to acknowledge all the political participants—staff
and volunteers—whose respect for and belief in the democratic process are at the heart of all we
do. To our 114 Returning Officers and Assistant Returning Officers and the almost 9,500 election
workers who brought the democratic process to life in each of the 57 electoral divisions, I express
my sincere thanks. I am grateful to my colleagues in other jurisdictions across the country whose
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collaboration and advice has been invaluable. Finally, I am grateful to our core of talented and
committed headquarters staff who worked diligently to ensure that all processes ran smoothly
while upholding the tenets of the legislation.
Shipra Verma, CA
Deputy Chief Electoral Officer
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III

		ANNUAL ACTIVITIES (outside the election period)
A. ACTIVITIES RELATED TO THE ELECTIONS ACT
A full report on the conduct of the 40th General Election can be found in Section IV, Conduct of
the 40th General Election, beginning on page 15.

i. Delivering Public Information and Education Programming
Elections Manitoba continued to promote its Your Power to Choose (YPTC) curriculum-based
election education program in 2011, including the adult component of the program, developed
and launched in 2010. Every school in Manitoba was contacted in 2011 to enhance awareness
of YPTC and extend an offer to conduct facilitated workshops for students. The reach of the program in 2011 was the widest to date, with numbers as follows:
• 283 workshops delivered in total
		 > 263 workshops delivered to students from K to Grade 12
		 > 20 workshops delivered to adults
• 6,381 students/adults participated
• 51 electoral divisions reached
Other public information and education activities for 2011 were election-specific and are detailed in Section IV, beginning on page 30.

ii. Working with Advisory Committees
Elections Manitoba consults with representatives from all political parties on an annual basis
with respect to The Elections Act (EA) and The Elections Finances Act (EFA). These advisory committees are legislated under each act. For a report on The Elections Finances Act Advisory Committee,
see page 11.
The Elections Act Advisory Committee
This advisory committee met on April 27, 2011 to discuss updates on the mapping process pursuant to the new boundaries; preparation for the 40th General Election, including enumeration,
nominations, advance voting locations, new voting initiatives and new community relations initiatives; and policy on electronic communication devices in the voting stations.

Committee members for 2011:
Communist Party of Canada-Manitoba – Darrell Rankin
Green Party of Manitoba – James Beddome
Manitoba Liberal Party – Dennis Trochim
New Democratic Party of Manitoba – Nanci Morrison
The Progressive Conservative Party of Manitoba – Marni Larkin
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B. ACTIVITIES RELATED TO THE ELECTIONS FINANCES ACT
A report on election period spending and financial administration of the 40th General Election
can be found in Section V, Election Period Spending, beginning on page 37.
Processing annual financial returns
To demonstrate compliance and maintain transparency with the public, political parties and constituency associations disclose their annual financial activities. Candidates are required to report
the status of campaign deficits and loan balances annually as well.

I. Political Parties
Annual statements for 2010 were required to be filed by March 31, 2011 or by an approved extension date and were filed as follows:

Political Party

Extension Date (if applicable)

Filed Date

April 15/11
April 15/11

April 15/11
March 30/11
March 31/11
March 30/11
April 8/11

Communist Party of Canada - Manitoba
Green Party of Manitoba
Manitoba Liberal Party
New Democratic Party of Manitoba
The Progressive Conservative Party of Manitoba

Registered Political Party Annual Financial Statements
Filed in 2011 for the calendar year ending December 2010
Income and Expenses
Contributions*
Transfers
Other Income
Total Income
Expenses
Surplus (Deficit)
Assets and Liabilities
Assets
Liabilities
Net Worth (Deficit)

CPC-M $

GPM $

Lib. $

NDP $

PC $

6,502
600
$7,102
5,548
$1,554

5,743
471
7,548
$13,762
9,439
$4,323

152,633
826
(14,656)
$138,803
197,501
$(58,698)

738,027
286,120
93,451
$1,117,598
1,542,158
$(424,560)

1,418,065
102,260
156,523
$1,676,848
1,741,307
$(64,459)

924
13,917
$(12,993)

13,281
550
$12,731

206,228
83,799
$122,429

310,566
39,695
$270,871

690,986
262,311
$428,675

*Excludes contributions received during the by-election period.

8

MBElctnsAnnlRprt11rev4.indd 8

12-11-14 10:15 PM

II. Annual allowance paid to political parties for 2010
Under The Elections Finances Act, political parties are entitled to public funding upon request, referred
to in the legislation as an annual allowance. Allowance paid in 2011 for 2010 was as follows:

Political Party

Amount certified

Communist Party of Canada - Manitoba
Green Party of Manitoba
Manitoba Liberal Party
New Democratic Party of Manitoba
The Progressive Conservative Party of Manitoba

$600
$6,983
$64,821
declined
declined

III. Contributions* Received by Registered Political Parties for 2010

$250.00 or More Total value $
$25.00 to $250.00 Total value $
Less Than $25.00 Total value $
Total of all Contributions $

CPC-M $

GPM $

Lib. $

NDP $

PC $

Total $

6,002
440
60
6,502

696
5,193
523
6,412

92,897
58,661
1,075
152,633

712,111
280,554
20,082
1,012,747

1,097,967
584,751
60,206
1,742,924

1,909,673
929,599
81,946
2,921,218

*Includes all contributions received during the year, including the by-election period.

Historical Summary of Contributions*

Reporting Year
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Lib. $

NDP $

PC $

Other $

Total $

923,036
92,909
186,806
174,730
127,028
135,808
138,985
221,508
136,546
157,511
152,633

1,006,214
630,586
752,644
1,309,763
715,532
790,183
862,684
1,306,764
722,502
927,872
1,012,747

1,286,390
393,674
426,069
536,538
547,563
557,512
864,393
949,403
834,710
999,581
1,742,924

15,724
11,997
8,485
24,231
9,849
8,884
12,750
17,280
9,413
12,930
12,914

3,231,364
1,129,166
1,374,004
2,045,262
1,399,972
1,492,387
1,878,812
2,494,955
1,703,171
2,097,894
2,921,218

*Includes all contributions received during the year, including the election period.

											2011 ANNUAL REPORT

MBElctnsAnnlRprt11rev4.indd 9

9

12-11-14 10:15 PM

IV. Constituency Associations
The person responsible for the finances of a constituency association must provide information
to the Chief Electoral Officer regarding contributions or balances remaining on any loans. These
constituency association returns state the name and address of all contributors, as well as the
aggregate value of their contributions to the association during that year.
An aggregate annual contribution to the constituency association totaling $250 or more is public
information. Three of the five registered political parties had constituency associations.

Total Number of Constituency Associations
Number Reporting
Contributions of $250 or more
Contributions $250 or more

Lib.

NDP

PC

57

57

57

-

4
$ 1,240

-

$

$

Yearly Comparison of Constituency Associations Reporting Contributions of $250 or More
Year

# Of Constituency
Associations

Reporting Contributions Of
$250 Or More

Total Contributions Of $250
Or More

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2009*
2010*
2011*

171
171
171
171
171
171
172
174
174
175
30
173
171

5
4
5
2
4
3
5
8
0
2
1
4
4

$7,323
$1,895
$9,673
$940
$2,055
$2,595
$3,746
$6,315
$0
$787
$500
$1,631
$1,240

*under new boundaries
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Manitoba Tax Credits Claimed for Political Contributions (2000 - 2011)

Tax Year
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

INDIVIDUAL

CORPORATE

TOTAL

Returns $
562,901
537,700
623,059
1,195,568
728,462
792,686
944,841
1,551,826
969,134
1,092,884
1,493,803
2,287,870

Returns $
98,876
26,545*
6,037*
2,342*
2,018*
-

Credits $
661,777
564,245
629,096
1,197,910
730,480
792,686
944,841
1,551,826
969,134
1,092,884
1,493,803
2,287,870

* As of January 1, 2001, contributions from corporations are not permitted under The Elections Finances Act. Credits claimed by corporations are for contributions prior to 2001; however, tax credits may be claimed up to five years after contributions are made.

V. Candidates’ Campaign Deficit and Loan Balances
From the PC Party of Manitoba leadership contest in 2006:
•  One contestant reported an outstanding loan and/or deficit balance at the end of 2011.
From the 2007 General Election:
•  One candidate reported an outstanding loan and/or deficit balance at the end of 2011.  
Complete details can be found in the relevant returns which are available for viewing at Elections
Manitoba or via Elections Manitoba’s website.

The Elections Finances Act Advisory Committee
Elections Manitoba consults with representatives from all political parties on an annual basis
with respect to The Elections Act and The Elections Finances Act.
The EFA Advisory Committee met on April 14, 2011 to review the amendments to The Elections Finances
Act and to discuss the new tools designed by Elections Manitoba to assist political participants in their
compliance with the new legislation. These include updated guides, an updated official agent package,
a new record-keeping tool, and information sessions.
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Committee members for 2011:
Communist Party of Canada-Manitoba – Darrell Rankin
Green Party of Manitoba – John Wilmot
Manitoba Liberal Party – Dennis Trochim
New Democratic Party of Manitoba – Kevin Dearing
The Progressive Conservative Party of Manitoba – Cynthia Lischynski

C. DEVELOPING STAFF AND SHARING BEST PRACTICES
There were several opportunities in the year for Elections Manitoba to participate in meetings
and forums allowing for the exchange of information and ideas related to democracy and the
electoral process.
•  Elections Maitoba was represented at the annual Conference of Canadian Election
Officials in May. Topics of discussion included e-voting, social media, innovations in
institutional voting and university outreach in New Brunswick, a discussion of Elections
Canada’s new outreach and civic engagement framework, and new campaign finance
laws in Québec.
•  Elections Manitoba also attended the Council on Governmental Ethics Laws (COGEL)
in Nashville, TN in December. Topics included electronic filing systems for campaign
finance, ethics and conflict of interest legislation, and e-learning for staff.
•  Elections Manitoba staff gave presentations at several local conferences and events
in 2011, including the Teachers’ Institute on Parliamentary Democracy in April and
again in August, a University of Manitoba forum on youth engagement in May, and the
Manitoba Teachers’ Society Conference in April.

D. PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE
The Public Interest Disclosure Act, known as Whistleblower Protection, came into effect in April
2007. There have been no disclosures within Elections Manitoba, although the organization
remains fully aware of the Act and is ready to ensure its regulations are met should an employee
come forward with a concern.
The Act gives employees a clear process for disclosing concerns about significant and serious
matters (wrongdoing) in the Manitoba public service, and strengthens protection from reprisal.
The Act builds on protections already in place under other statutes, as well as collective bargaining
rights, policies, practices and processes in the Manitoba public service.
Wrongdoing under the Act may be: contravention of federal or provincial legislation; an act or
omission that endangers public safety, public health or the environment; gross mismanagement;
or, knowingly directing or counseling a person to commit a wrongdoing. The Act is not intended
to deal with routine operational or administrative matters.

12
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The following is a summary of disclosures received by Elections Manitoba for fiscal year 2011 – 2012:

Information Required Annually
(per Section 18 of The Act)
The number of disclosures received, and the number acted on and not acted on.
Subsection 18(2)(a)
The number of investigations commenced as a result of a disclosure.
Subsection 18(2)(b)
In the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of the
wrongdoing and any recommendations or corrective actions taken in relation to the wrongdoing, or the reasons why no corrective action was taken.
Subsection 18(2)(c)

Fiscal Year 2011– 2012
NIL
NIL
NIL

E. GOVERNMENT ADVERTISING UNDER THE ELECTIONS FINANCES ACT
Sections 56(1) & (1.1) of The Elections Finances Act regulates the kind of information a government
department or Crown agency can publish or advertise leading up to and during elections and
by-elections.
Any person who believes that a department or Crown agency has violated Section 56 (1) or (1.1)
may file a complaint with the Commissioner of Elections.
Section 56(3) of The Elections Finances Act requires that, if the Commissioner of Elections finds
that a complaint is justified, the Commissioner must advise the Chief Electoral Officer of the
particulars of the violation. The particulars are then to be published in the annual report.
For the 2011 annual report, Commissioner Bill Bowles provided the following particulars to
Elections Manitoba:
1) The Department of Health and the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority, a Crown agency, wrongfully
published information about the activities of the Department of Health in the last 90 days before the
election of October, 2011.
Specifically, in August, 2011, the Department of Health arranged for the press to be invited on a
tour taken by Theresa Oswald, the Minister of Health, of a birthing centre operated by the Winnipeg
Regional Health authority. A complaint was received and investigated. I found that the complaint was
justified and that the involvement of the Department of Health and of the Winnipeg Regional Health
Authority was contrary to section 56(1) of The Elections Finances Act.
2) The Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation, a Crown agency, wrongfully published
information about its activities in the last 90 days before the election of October, 2011.
Specifically, in September of 2011, Manitoba Housing placed advertisements in the Brandon Sun,
and other newspapers in the province, requesting expressions of interest for the development of
affordable rental and co-operative housing. A complaint was received and investigated. I found that
the complaint was justified and the advertisements constituted a publication of information about
the agency’s programs and activities contrary to section 56(1) of The Elections Finances Act.
											2011 ANNUAL REPORT
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IV

CONDUCT OF THE 40TH GENERAL ELECTION

A. ELECTION PLANNING AND PREPARATION
Following a comprehensive evaluation and de-briefing process for the 39th General Election,
preparation for the 40th General Election began in earnest with the strategic planning session
held in February 2008.
Five strategic focus areas were identified and project planning for all departments flowed from
these areas:
1. Implementing legislative requirements into the electoral process
2. Making the electoral process more accessible to voters
3. Expanding assistance to political participants and voters
4. Developing staff to provide quality service
5. Enhancing service through effective communication and use of technology
As much of the planning focused on implementing new legislative requirements, an overview
of the key changes to the legislation is outlined below, along with the impacts on planning and
preparation.

THE ELECTIONS ACT
Set election date [s. 49.1(2)] and 75-day calendar [s. 65(2)]: From the time Bill 37 amendments
were passed, it was known that an election would take place on October 4, 2011, at the latest.
While an earlier election call was always a possibility and readiness dates were adopted prior to
the set date, the October 2011 date was the primary target for our planning.

Fixed date Election Calendar - 2011
oActivity
Enumeration
Revision

July

August
21

September
22
25

22

Writ

6

Nominations

6

Advance Voting
Election day

October

13
24

1
4
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Impacts:
	Enumeration strategy: The legislation allows for enumeration to begin 75 days in advance
of election day. An enumeration strategy was developed to address the earlier start date,
taking into account the potential for more moves, the relocation of many Manitobans to
their cottages for the summer, the need for more repeat visits by enumerators with many
voters being away on vacation, and the return home of those post-secondary students
who live in residence during the school year.
	Changes within the election calendar: Nominations closed 21 days before election
day instead of 15 days. Completion of the preliminary voters list was required 40 days
before election day instead of 17 days before election day. The revision period was also
lengthened, from six days to 29 days. While dates for enumeration, revision and close of
nominations are established in the legislation, writ day was not set and could have taken
place on any day within an eight-day period.
	Recruitment and Training: RO and ARO recruitment for the 40th General Election began
a full two years before election day. With 114 positions to fill, as well as a significant
number that needed to be re-filled as incumbents’ circumstances changed over the twoyear period, recruitment for this election was a considerable task. Training got underway
in March 2010, with seven separate sessions held over a 16-month period, including two
additional sessions for later appointees. Of the 114 positions filled, 33 were re-hired from
the 2007 General Election, or 29% of the total.
Address Database [s. 64.1]: A provincial address database was developed to implement Bill 37
(2008) requirements. The database houses civic/geographic addresses and serves as a tool to
support and simplify the enumeration process.
Impacts:
	Data was sourced from the City of Winnipeg, City of Brandon, Manitoba Local Government,
Manitoba Hydro and Elections Manitoba’s own past enumeration data. A database model
was developed and linked to Elections Manitoba’s existing Voter Enumeration System
(VES). Data was evaluated for quality and reliability, tested in the field and enhancements
to the system were made accordingly.
T he address database met with varying degrees of success across the province. Some
difficulties were encountered with geo coding rural addresses, and the data sources used
to feed the database did not always capture unit numbers in apartment buildings. Work in
2012 will focus on reviewing the database to assess how it can be improved for use in future
elections.
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Additional Voting Opportunities: To increase convenience for voters, an eighth day of advance
voting was added, the number of advance voting locations increased by 50%, from 194 to 291
(including more high traffic locations in shopping centres, as well as new locations at universities
and The Forks), and voting places opened one hour earlier on election day, beginning at 7:00 am.
Impacts:
	Additional locations for advance voting were sourced, more staffing resources were
required, both in the field and at headquarters, as advance voting volume increased
significantly (more detail on advance voting follows in the Operational Conduct of the
Election section below). An additional hour of voting on election day resulted in a longer
day for voting officers, and pay scales, as set out in the tariff, were adjusted accordingly.

THE ELECTIONS FINANCES ACT
Annual advertising limit [s.54.1(6)]: An annual advertising limit was in effect for the set date
election year for both candidates and political parties. There is no limit on advertising in a nonelection year. The definition of annual advertising expenses was expanded to include posters,
leaflets, letters, cards, signs, banners and any similar printed material which supports or opposes
a party or candidate.
Government Advertising: The period during which no government advertising was allowed prior
to an election was extended to 90 days.
Impacts:
	
Updates: The legislative changes required updates to finance-related communications,
guides, materials and forms. Information sessions were held to communicate the changes
to all political entities.
Compliance Assistance: Information kits were developed for and distributed to
candidates and official agents. A new financial record-keeping tool for candidates and
political parties, completed and tested during the Concordia by-election, was made
available during the 40th General Election. Information sessions were also provided to
251 participants in 2010 and 2011.

THE ELECTORAL DIVISIONS ACT
A review of electoral boundaries was completed in 2008 as per The Electoral Divisions Act. Statistics
Canada census data was a primary source of information for the review. Factors considered were:
1. community or diversity of interests of the population
2. means of communication
3. physical features (such as rivers or lakes)
4. existing boundaries of rural municipalities as well as other similar or relevant factors
5. special geographic conditions including:
•  sparsity, density and relative rate of population growth
•  accessibility and the size or shape of a region
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The report of the Commission, delivered in December 2008, resulted in changes to 56 of 57
electoral divisions, including 10 name changes. The distribution between Winnipeg divisions and
those outside of Winnipeg remained the same, with 31 in the city and 26 outside.
As part of their pre-writ work, Returning Officers mapped voting areas within the new boundaries
and identified voting places to best accommodate voters in their electoral divisions. A team of
headquarters staff provided support to the mapping process. Concurrent with the mapping
process, new street keys and voting keys were developed. All the information and resources
developed were shared with political parties.
The re-drawing of boundaries had implications for political participants as well, as parties
dissolved existing constituency associations and formed new ones. Elections Manitoba provided
information and resources to support the parties in this process.

B. OPERATIONAL CONDUCT OF THE ELECTION
1. STAFFING
Returning Officers and Assistant Returning Officers
Much of the work carried out by Returning Officers (ROs) and Assistant Returning Officers (AROs)
takes place long before the writ is dropped. In addition to mapping voting areas and recruiting
staff, they are responsible for securing and equipping their office space; determining voting
locations and completing accessibility checks on each; developing comprehensive plans for
enumeration, revision, institutional and advance voting; and overseeing training and activities
of all field staff.
To streamline communications from headquarters to the ROs and provide timely assistance, a
team of eight RO contact officers was in place for approximately four months. Another 10 worked
as field contacts during the election, assisting as necessary.
Election Workers
During the 40th General Election, approximately 9,500 election worker positions were filled,
including enumerators, revising agents, clerical and IT staff in the returning office, voting officers,
registration officers, and information officers.
Recruitment began in May 2010 and was conducted by word-of-mouth, posters and other
advertising, from past employee lists and through the Elections Manitoba website, and lists
provided by Elections Canada.

18
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2. VOTER REGISTRATION
As noted earlier, door-to-door enumeration started on July 21, 75 days in advance of election
day. Close to 3,000 enumerators blanketed the province to capture names for the voters list.
The voters list is an essential tool in the electoral process; it facilitates the voting process for
those eligible voters whose names appear on the list. Names are crossed off the voters list as
individuals vote during advance and on election day. This ensures that each voter only votes
once. The list also serves an important democratic purpose, in that it imposes equitable limits on
election spending by candidates and political parties.
There are three voters lists generated throughout the election process:
1. Preliminary list following enumeration
2. Revised list incorporating all changes and additions that take place during the revision period
3. Final list, including those voters who swear on at the voting place during advance or on election day
The following chart illustrates the steps in building the voters list:
Final Voters List

Election Day Swear-Ons

Advance Voting Swear-Ons

Official Voters List

Revision

Preliminary Voters List

Enumeration

A total of 710,590 names were added to the voters list through enumeration, or 93.3% of the final
list, which stood at 777,054 names. In 2007, there were 740,920 names on the list. The numbers
of voters registered during the different phases of registration and a comparison to previous
general elections is shown in the following table:
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Method of Registration

Number of Voters

Percentage

2003
Enumeration

702,572

95.9

Revision* (four days)

15,012

2.0

Sworn on at voting stations

15,362

2.1

732,946

100.00

TOTAL
2007
Enumeration

687,834

92.8

Revision* (six days)

26,660

3.6

Sworn on at voting stations

26,426

3.6

740,920

100.00

710,590

91.5

Revision* (29 days)

40,185

5.2

Sworn on at voting stations

26,279

3.4

777,054

100.00

TOTAL
2011
Enumeration

TOTAL
*Includes net additions and deletions and personal security voters

Names were entered into a Voter Enumeration System (VES), the in-house system that ultimately
generates the voters list. To ensure accuracy, a double-entry system was used at the returning
office to record names on the voters list. This practice was first introduced in the 2007 election.
Other measures taken to ensure accuracy of the voters list included an electronic system that
checked for errors in postal addresses, proofing, and measures to eliminate duplication of names
on the list.
Enumeration
The 33-day enumeration period was broken into two distinct phases: active and targeted.
During the active phase, enumerators visited all homes in the province, with return visits carried
out as required to gather names of all eligible voters. When residents were not home, enumerators
left handbills with RO contact information and a message that the resident would be visited
again. By visiting voters in their homes, enumerators had an opportunity to provide information
to voters about the electoral process and answer any questions that arose. The home visits also
provided enumerators with an opportunity to offer a homebound voting option to voters whose
disability would make it difficult to access a voting place, as well as to caregivers of those voters.
To ease identification for the voter and optimize enumerator safety, staff wore yellow reflective
vests and Elections Manitoba photo-identification tags. They were also equipped with a personal
alarm. In some areas, enumerators worked in teams to further enhance safety.
The targeted phase of enumeration allowed Returning Officers to focus their staff on particular
areas, including personal care homes and initial visits to university residences.
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A poster campaign informing Manitoba cottage owners about their residency requirement for
the General Election was also conducted during enumeration. Posters informed voters that they
would vote in the electoral division where their primary residence is located, even if they were
staying at their cottage during enumeration.
Another targeted enumeration project was developed in response to spring flooding that
displaced numerous residents from the Interlake electoral division. To accommodate the many
Interlake voters who were housed in hotels during the enumeration and voting period, Elections
Manitoba conducted enumeration onsite at 11 hotels in Winnipeg and Gimli.
Revision
Revision took place from August 25 through September 22, allowing
voters to visit Returning Offices to have their name added, corrected
or deleted from the voters list. Voters could also arrange to have a
revising agent visit their home. Voter’s Guides were distributed to
all households during revision to provide a comprehensive source
of election information. The Voter’s Guide included instructions for
voters to have their names added to the voters list.
During revision, homes in which voters had previously indicated
that they would be moving were visited again to update information.
Elections Manitoba staff also visited university and college campuses
again during the first week of school, to ensure all eligible voters living
in residence had an opportunity to add their names to the voters list.
As students are governed by a special residency requirement with
respect to where they vote, an informational campaign was held on campuses across the
province. During Revision, information booths were placed on seven campuses to provide
information directly to students about how and where they could vote. Under Manitoba’s
electoral law, students enrolled in a program of six months or longer are eligible to vote in the
electoral division in which they live while attending school. If their course of study is shorter than
six months, they vote in their home electoral division. With this being the first election since 1999
to be held while post-secondary students were in session, there was a greater opportunity to
inform and promote to them directly.
The revised voters list brought the number of names up to 750,775 or 98.6% of the final total.
Safeguarding of the Voters List
Guidelines on authorized use and safeguarding of the voters list are in place to ensure that
personal privacy is protected and use of the list conforms with provisions of The Elections Act.
Manitoba’s election law permits registered political parties, candidates in provincial elections,
and Members of the Legislative Assembly to obtain copies of voter list information. Voters lists
are no longer publicly posted but available for supervised inspection at returning offices. When
receiving electronic copies of the voters list, users are required to install voter data software that
will only function with the use of a password provided by Elections Manitoba. When receiving a
copy of the voters list, an individual must be designated by the recipient to ensure that the list is
safeguarded and used only for authorized purposes.
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Evaluation of the Voters List
A survey of approximately 6,000 randomly selected voters was conducted following the election
to assess the accuracy, currency and completeness of the voters list.
The findings of the survey are given in the table below, along with comparisons to the two
previous General Elections:

Accuracy
Currency*
Completeness

2011

2007

2003

94.2%
94.7%
87.3%

93.3%
90.8%
85.7%

88.3%
79.9%
87.1%

* It should be noted that a shorter period of time elapsed between the election and the survey in 2011 than in previous years, which would result in better
currency results by virtue of time alone.

3. WORKING WITH POLITICAL ENTITIES
Throughout the election cycle, Elections Manitoba works closely with political parties, candidates
and official agents to provide assistance with all matters relating to campaign finance as well as
the nomination process.
As part of Elections Manitoba’s campaign finance assistance mandate, information sessions were
held for candidates, official agents, chief financial officers, and campaign managers leading up to
the 2011 election. In addition, a record-keeping tool was provided to facilitate compilation, filing
and submission of financial records for candidates and political parties. Details of these activities
can be found on p. 35 under “Compliance Assistance.”
Two different kits were developed and distributed, one to guide candidates through the
nomination process under The Elections Act (EA) and one to provide assistance in compliance
with The Elections Finances Act (EFA).
Contents of the EA kit:
•  An Election Guide for Candidates
•  Nomination Papers (Form 400) and Checklist (Form 495)
•  The Elections Act and The Elections Finances Act
•  The Index to Manitoba Electoral Divisions
•  A calendar for the set date election
•  Guide for Scrutineers  
•  Information on Employment Leave for Candidates and Election Volunteers
•  Information on access to Communities & Multiple Residences for purposes of Canvassing
or Distributing Election Campaign Material
•  One wall map and one 11 x 17 map for candidate’s electoral division
•  Descriptions and voting place locations for voting areas in candidate’s electoral division
and any relevant voting area keys, street keys or community keys
•  CD with electronic versions of all materials
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Contents of the EFA kit:
•  Form 922 – Candidate’s Financial Statements and Supporting Schedule
•  Form 932 – Candidate’s Detailed Contribution List
•  Recordkeeping Tool (electronic and book versions)
•  Recordkeeping Guide
•  Pre-numbered folder for Schedule 1 line items
•  Candidate’s annual advertising limit
•  Official Agent Summary Guide
•  The Elections Finances Act
•  Electronic filing disk
•  Information session dates
A prospective candidate must provide specific forms under The Elections Act and The Elections
Finances Act to Elections Manitoba and to the Returning Officer prior to the close of nominations.
Once the Returning Officer has verified the prospective candidate’s documentation and
the nomination has been reviewed by the CEO, he or she can become an official candidate.
Nominations for the 40th General Election closed on Tuesday, September 13 at 1:00 pm with a
total of 209 official candidates in 57 electoral divisions. One candidate withdrew prior to election
day for a final total of 208.
All five registered political parties endorsed candidates in this election. Those candidates
appeared on the ballots with their party affiliation. There was one independent candidate.

Registered Political Party

# of Candidates - 2011

Communist Party of Canada –Manitoba
Green Party of Manitoba
Manitoba Liberal Party
New Democratic Party
The Progressive Conservative Party of Manitoba
Independent
TOTAL

# of Candidates - 2007
4*
32
57
57
57
1

6
15
57
57
56
5

208

196

* CPC-M endorsed five candidates, one of whom withdrew after close of nomination.

4. VOTING
In addition to casting a ballot at a designated voting place on election day, numerous alternate
voting opportunities are available to Manitobans, including homebound voting, absentee
voting and advance voting. To ensure the highest level of accessibility for all voters, Elections
Manitoba also provided several tools and options to enable persons with disabilities to access
their democratic rights.
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The number of voters using the various voting methods is shown in the following table:

Voting Method
Advance Resident
Advance Non-Resident
Absentee
Homebound
Institutional
Regular Ballot
Write-In Ballot
Regular Voting
Total

2011
Ballots Cast

Percentage

2007
Ballots Cast

Percentage

56,307
22,214
1,008
1,284

12.99%
5.13%
0.23%
0.30%

33,995
8,780
774
1,638

8.1%
2.1%
0.2%
0.4%

3,241
1,846
347,446
433,346

0.75%
0.43%
80.18%
100.00%

4,057
1,513
369,783
420,540

0.9%
0.4%
87.9%
100.0%

Advance voting
As outlined previously, amendments introduced in Bill 37 provided for an additional day of
advance voting. From September 24 to October 1, advance voting was conducted in 291
locations throughout the province, increasing from 194 in 2007. The reason for the increase in
advance voting locations was twofold: In urban areas, additional high traffic locations enhanced
convenience for voters, while in rural areas, the increase was to satisfy the new legislative
requirement that residents of communities with more than 50 eligible voters would not have to
travel more than 30 km in order to vote at an advance location.
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Voting at high traffic advance locations accounted for 28.6% of all advance ballots cast and is
shown in the following table:

1

High Traffic Advance Voting Location

Resident
Ballots

Non-Resident
Ballots

Total High
Traffic Ballots

Assiniboine Community College
Brandon Shoppers Mall1
Canadian Mennonite University
The Forks
Garden City Shopping Centre2
Grant Park Shopping Centre
James Richardson International Airport
Kildonan Place
Polo Park Shopping Centre
Portage Place Shopping Centre3
Red River College (Notre Dame campus)
St. Vital Shopping Centre
University of Brandon
University of Manitoba
University of Winnipeg
Winnipeg Square

107
834
527
177
1,158
1,247
38
519
518
366
19
748
321
231
174
76

97
235
124
912
1,511
1,503
647
1,978
1,856
870
684
1,975
220
1,076
598
1,123

204
1,069
651
1,089
2,669
2,750
685
2,497
2,374
1,236
703
2,723
541
1,307
772
1,199

TOTAL VOTERS FOR HIGH-TRAFFIC

7,060

15,409

22,469

Brandon West Returning Office

2

Kildonan Returning Office

3

Logan Returning Office

As in the previous election, Manitobans had the option of voting at any advance voting location
in the province. In total, 78,521 ballots were cast during the eight days of advance voting for the
2011 provincial election. This compares to 42,775 votes cast over seven days of advance voting
in the 2007 election, or an increase of 83%.
Advance voters were required to provide government-issued photo identification or two
documents that, together, confirmed their identity.
A post-election survey of the Manitoba population showed that awareness of advance voting
opportunities increased over 2007. In 2011, 74% of voters surveyed agreed that advance
voting places were open at various locations across the province the week before election day
compared to 56% in 2007. There was also slightly higher awareness that any eligible voter could
vote at any advance voting location (65% in 2011 compared to 59% in 2007). In addition, more
respondents who voted in advance said they did so because they happened upon a location,
rather than having made a deliberate plan to vote in advance. Twenty-three percent of voters
said they happened upon a location in 2011, compared to 16% in 2007. This suggests that the
increased number of locations in 2011 may have contributed to the rise in advance voting over
previous election years.
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More information about this and other post-election surveys follows on p. 28 (Turnout) and p. 33
(Post-election evaluation).

Special voting
The term, special voting, encompasses several different voting opportunities for people who are
unable to attend to a voting station. These include institutional voting stations in health care and
correctional facilities on election day, homebound, personal security, absentee voting and as
discussed previously, advance.
Institutional voting stations are set up to allow eligible patients at health care facilities and inmates of correctional facilities to vote on election day. Regular voting takes place in most health
care facilities so residents have the opportunity to cast their ballot. There were 3,241 regular
ballots cast at these institutions. In all correctional facilities and large hospitals, write-in ballots
are used. A total of 1,846 write-in ballots were cast and these were counted after election day.
Homebound voting provides an option for voters with a disability and their caregivers to cast
their ballots at home. Homebound voters apply to their returning officer, and an election officer visits the home to administer the vote. In the 2011 election, 1,284 ballots were cast through
homebound voting.
For reasons of personal security, a voter may have his or her personal information omitted or
obscured from the provincial voters list. Sixteen people took advantage of personal security voting during the election.
Absentee voting is offered to all qualified voters who expect to be away from home during advance voting or on election day and who intend to be away for no more than six months. These
voters can register for mail-in ballots that are sent to their temporary addresses during an election. Their ballots are counted after voting stations close on election day.
As of 2006, in addition to members of the Canadian Forces, the maximum six-month absence
restriction was waived for students attending school outside Manitoba, individuals working with
the Manitoba or Canadian government or anyone living with people who meet these conditions.
The total number of absentee ballots cast for 2011 was 1,008.
Evacuee voting- As noted earlier, special measures were undertaken to facilitate voting for residents of the Interlake electoral division who were evacuated from their homes due to the flood
of May 2011. Elections Manitoba worked closely with the Emergency Measures Organization and
the Manitoba Association of Native Fire Fighters to provide specialized services to affected voters, from enumeration through election day. The following table summarizes this activity:
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Activity

Totals

Evacuees enumerated
Evacuees voting in advance
Evacuees voting on election day
Evacuee enumeration locations
Advance voting locations for evacuees
Election day voting locations for evacuees

157
49
46
11
12
11

5. ELECTION DAY
On October 4, 2011, close to 6,500 field staff opened 2,681 voting stations in 899 locations
throughout the province. An additional 115 institutional voting stations were established in
health care and correctional facilities. As noted previously, voting places were opened one hour
earlier on election day, beginning at 7:00 am, providing for 13 hours of voting on election day.
In total, 347,446 voters chose to cast their ballots at regular voting places on election day, or
80.18% of all voters.

Results
Elections Manitoba began posting results on its website as soon as voting places closed on election day at 8:00 pm. Detailed official results of the 40th General Election can be viewed on our
website and in the print version of the Statement of Votes. A summary is provided in Appendix A.
On October 11, 2011, the Deputy Chief Electoral Officer notified the Clerk of the Assembly of the
names of the elected candidates for 55 of the 57 electoral divisions.
In St. Norbert, a plurality of 29 votes led to an automatic recount, as did a plurality of 26 votes
in Kirkfield Park. Recounts were held October 24 and October 26, respectively, and results were
confirmed at that time. On November 1, the Deputy Chief Electoral Officer notified the Clerk of
the Assembly of the name of the elected candidate in St. Norbert and, on November 3, the same
was done for Kirkfield Park.
Standing of parties:

Registered Political Party

39th General Election Results

40th General Election Results

Manitoba Liberal Party
New Democratic Party
The Progressive Conservative Party of
Manitoba

2
36
19

1
37
19

Total

57

57
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Turnout
Province-wide voter turnout was 55.77% with 433,346 Manitobans having voted.
A post-election survey revealed that 95% of voters (up from 94% in 2007) were satisfied or very
satisfied with their voting experience. While voter turnout was down from 56.76% in 2007, the
total number of voters increased by almost 13,000.
The following graph provides a historical view of voter turnout from 1981 to 2011:

Provincial Voter Turnout
PERCENTAGE
80
75
70

Voter Turnout (%)

65
60
55
50

1981

1986

1988

1990

1995

1999

2003

2007

2011

ELECTION YEAR

Many reasons are given for the decision not to vote. These reasons can be grouped into three broad
categories:
•  distraction (e.g. being away, being ill, no time) – 34%
•  disassociation (e.g. didn’t know who to vote for, felt the outcome did not matter or was already
determined) – 51%
•  displacement (e.g. didn’t know where to vote, felt the voting place was too far away) – 11%
Of these three general categories, the reasons given by Manitobans for not voting have remained
fairly consistent over time, the exception being among those who cite reasons of disassociation; this
number has gone up slightly over 2007.
Among those who did vote, two broad reasons are given. The most common is the importance of the
act of voting; 29% of respondents state that voting is one’s duty or responsibility, while about 23% say
that it is a right or privilege that, if not used, will mean the end of democracy. The other reason given
by voters is related to the outcome; they vote to support or oppose a candidate or party, or to have a
voice or say in the election.
While the vast majority of Manitobans are predisposed to vote, for many it is simply not a priority.
However, only 1 in 10 say that nothing would encourage them to vote, suggesting that with sufficient
motivation and opportunity, more would vote.
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6. INFORMATION SYSTEMS MANAGEMENT
As in the two previous elections, Returning Office staff used the Voter Enumeration System
(VES) daily to create, build and maintain the voters list. VES is also used to assist with voting area
management, as well as tracking of enumeration activity for staffing and payroll purposes.
The RO Desktop application was used daily by Returning Officers to manage and report all aspects
of their field operations, including enumeration and revision, HR, the nomination process, ballot
printing, advance and special voting, and election night results. The RO desktop allows ROs to
quickly view their priority tasks for the day, receive messages from HQ and report back on any
issues encountered. Data recorded in VES and RO Desktop is accessible to HQ staff via web-based
management reports that are used to assess field operations throughout the election process.
ROs also review web reports daily to monitor operations in their respective electoral divisions.
During advance voting, the Advance Voting Application (AVA) is used to transmit a record of
Non-Resident Advance voters from each electoral division back to HQ. This enables Elections
Manitoba to track these non-resident voters and provide their names to their home electoral
division. The voters list in each electoral division is then updated and the non-resident ballots
are delivered to the correct electoral division for the election night count.
Newly created for 2011, the inquiry log is an internal web-based system that allowed for the
creation, documentation, tracking, and follow-up of stakeholder inquiries, including those from
the general public, candidates, political parties, and the media. The system was used by all
headquarters staff and enhanced customer service and efficiency.
A new application for viewing live election results was developed and integrated into Elections
Manitoba’s website for 2011. Users could click on animated maps of each electoral division, which
refreshed automatically as results came in from the field. The application also displayed ‘Results by
Party’ and ‘Results by Candidate’ as animated charts. Also new for the website was a complete list of
advance voting locations posted in both table form and on a Google map. The table and the map
showed advance location name, address, electoral division and dates of operation.
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7. PUBLIC INFORMATION AND EDUCATION
Elections Manitoba’s public information and education activities have continued to expand since
the 2007 election. Driven by the legislation, the two broad communications goals identified for
2011 were to provide clear and thorough information about the electoral process to all voters
and to motivate participation through targeted outreach initiatives developed to respond to the
needs of all Manitobans.

Community Relations
A series of community engagement initiatives targeted to specific groups were introduced or
enhanced for the recent election. These groups included:
•  Women in shelters/persons with personal security concerns
•  New Canadians
•  Persons with disabilities
•  Persons in homeless shelters (as per EA 10(1) and 10(2))
•  University and college students

For all five target groups, consultations were held with key stakeholders, communications
materials were developed specific to the target group and, where appropriate, information
sessions or other informational activities were held.
Some specific initiatives introduced for the 2011 election included:
•  New tools to assist voters with visual impairments and/or difficulty reading to vote
independently, including Braille ballot templates and candidate lists as well as large print
candidate lists and magnifying rulers.
•  As mentioned earlier, information booths were placed on campus at six of the larger
universities and colleges in the province. More campus-based advance voting locations
were also made available.
•  Enumeration was conducted at three homeless shelters and corresponding voting places
were set up on election day.
•  Brochures with voting information for new Canadian citizens were distributed at all
citizenship ceremonies from July through October 4 (approximately 600)
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CitizenNext
A post-election survey conducted in 2003 showed that voters were more likely than non-voters
to have grown up in homes where politics and current events were discussed. Further, a 2007
post-election survey found that non-voters were more likely to have children under 18 years
of age in their households. To respond to these findings, Elections Manitoba developed a new
family engagement program for the 2011 election, called CitizenNext, designed to promote
democratic participation as an activity and a concept to be shared and discussed among families.
The cornerstone of CitizenNext is a website designed especially for young people that includes
games, information, activities and resources to further their learning about the election process.
To welcome children to voting places, voting officers gave out
“Official Future Voter” stickers to all young people, while voters
themselves received “I Voted” stickers. The program was promoted
through posters and handbills distributed to kindergarten to grade
six students in 726 schools throughout the province as well as
various locations where families gather. A small print advertising
campaign was also executed.
While CitizenNext was launched as a pilot project for the 2011
election and did not have broad exposure prior to the election,
there was widespread support for the project among Manitobans
surveyed post-election. About 9 respondents in 10 support, at least
somewhat, the idea of the CitizenNext program, including 2 in 3
who strongly support it. Regardless of whether they voted or not,
respondents were likely to support the program.

Advertising
An election advertising campaign was developed that included user-friendly information about
the process, as well as a motivational message emphasizing the value of an individual’s vote. The
motivational component was accomplished through images: A series of individuals representing
a variety of demographic groups, each holding a sign with the message “You Count,” as well as a
group image with the same message.
Messaging also highlighted processes that make the voting experience more convenient (such
as advance, homebound and absentee voting). To maintain awareness and keep voters informed,
the media buy was expanded over previous years to encompass the full 75 days between
enumeration and voting day.
Key information and messaging were tailored to specific media. A broad selection of major media
(TV, radio, print) was chosen to ensure the message reached the broadest audience possible.
Within the broad media mix, Elections Manitoba also purchased media such as web, social media,
transit and radio, which would reach non-voters (i.e. those experiencing difficulty).
Ads ran in 100 newspapers and magazines, on 43 radio stations, five television stations, 64 theatre
screens, 560 transit vehicles, 32 billboards, and in six shopping malls, as well as on 33 websites.
For the first time, ads were also placed on Facebook and Google.
											2011 ANNUAL REPORT
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Your Power to Choose – Elections Manitoba’s education program
Elections Manitoba’s education program, Your Power to Choose, saw a high level of activity in the
election period. A key component of the program is the delivery of facilitated in-class workshops
to students in all grades, as well as adult learners across the province. In the 75-day period
leading up to the election, seven facilitators conducted 85 workshops for 1,775 students and
adult learners in 31 electoral divisions in the province. Workshop participants are engaged in all
aspects of the democratic process, beginning with an overview of electoral history in Manitoba,
through the creation of a voters list, the development of their own political campaign and, finally,
a mock election.

Student Information Officers
With the support of the Manitoba Association of School Superintendents, Elections Manitoba
recruited approximately 300 grade 11 and 12 students throughout the province to work as
Student Information Officers (SIOs) on election day. The objective of the SIO project was to
promote participation and build awareness of the electoral process among first-time and future
voters, while providing a paid employment opportunity. On election day, SIOs were at work in
47 of the province’s 57 electoral divisions. Returning Officers, voting officials and the students
themselves rated the experience very highly.

Public Inquiry
As in past elections, a team of call centre staff were recruited to respond to public phone inquiries
received at Elections Manitoba headquarters between the start of enumeration, July 21, and
election day. All calls were tracked through the inquiry log. In total, staff responded to over 8,000
calls, including 1,178 on election day, providing service in both official languages. Manitoba
Government Inquiry (MGI) provided back up to the call centre beginning on writ day, Sept. 6,
through election day.

Complaints
A complaints officer based at headquarters responded to concerns received from the public and
other stakeholders. Complaints were received by phone, fax, mail and email and all were tracked
through the inquiry log. In total, 477 complaints were received over the 75-day period of the 40th
General Election with 85 received on election day. This compares to 270 received in the previous
election over a period of only 33 days.
In most cases, responses were provided within 24 hours, unless research was required to provide
a full resolution of the complaint. In the latter case, the complainant was notified by phone
within 24 hours to advise them that their concern was being addressed and follow-up would
be forthcoming. The most common topic of complaint was related to enumeration, followed by
voting day issues, employment and phone calls from political parties.
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Working with the Media
Throughout the 75-day calendar, Elections Manitoba distributed news releases to local and
national media on the what/when/where/who of the electoral process. A media information
officer managed the distribution of releases, responded to inquiries and scheduled interviews
for the media spokesperson.
In addition, Elections Manitoba worked with a media consortium to facilitate the transmission of
results on election night directly from the field. For 2011, the consortium included the CBC, the
Canadian Press, CTV, Global, Rogers, SRC and SUN- TV.
8. POST-ELECTION EVALUATION
The evaluation and de-briefing process is an essential component of Elections Manitoba’s strategic
planning and a focus of activities immediately following a general election. The process includes
RO/ARO de-briefing sessions and departmental evaluation reports on all election activities.
The de-briefing process culminates in a strategic planning exercise, which will serve to confirm
or re-shape the vision and mission of the organization while laying the foundation for the 41st
General Election.
In addition to the internal reviews, four surveys were conducted by Prairie Research Associates
to provide critical information on stakeholder satisfaction, voter and election worker profiles,
and attitudes towards the electoral process. Various findings of the surveys have been cited
throughout this report.
The population survey showed that the vast majority of voters (95%) were satisfied or very
satisfied with their voting experience. Although these results are very similar to past elections,
the number of those reporting that they were very satisfied has increased slightly; 77% in 2011,
compared with 72% in 2007 and 73% in 2003.
With respect to specific aspects of the voting experience, enumerators were rated as
knowledgeable, polite and helpful by more than 85% of respondents, and nine out of ten voters
reported that they were satisfied with their enumeration experience. With respect to voting
locations, 85% of respondents indicated that locations were very convenient, 95% agreed that
staff were helpful and 98% said they were treated fairly or very fairly by voting officials. These
results have not changed from 2007.
The survey also indicates that, through its election advertising campaign, Elections Manitoba
succeeded in raising the issue of the importance of voting with many voters, and communicating
the important alternatives that make the act of voting more convenient. Over half of voters
recalled seeing or hearing ads from the campaign and, of those, 9 in 10 agreed that, regardless of
the circumstances, every vote counts.
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C. CAMPAIGN FINANCE
Candidates, Official Agents and Registered Political Parties
There were 208 candidates and five registered political parties contesting the 40th General Election. Appendix A lists the candidates by electoral division along with their endorsing parties,
official agents, and registration numbers (where applicable).
The following table compares for each general election since 1995:
• total number of candidates
• number of registered candidates (a registered candidate may issue official income tax receipts)
• number of candidates qualifying for reimbursement for each registered political party
Comparison of Number of Candidates in the Last Five General Elections

CPC-M1 GPM2

Lib.

Number of candidates
1995
57
1999
6
6
50
2003
5
14
57
20077
6
15
59
7
2011
5
32
59
Number registered for tax receipts
1995
57
1999
6
43
2003
1
55
2007
8
36
2011
14
33
Number qualifying for reimbursement
1995
53
1999
33
2003
1
30
2007
1
28
2011
1
10

FPM3

MP2,5

NDP

PC Prog4 RPM4

WIP4

Ind6

Total

6
6
5
-

12
-

57
57
57
57
59

57
57
57
56
59

-

-

-

11
4
2
6
2

188
198
197
199
216

1
-

12
-

8
2
4
3
8

55
56
50
52
56

-

-

-

7
2
1
4
-

128
121
111
103
111

-

-

55
57
57
56
56

57
56
51
55
57

-

-

-

1
1
-

166
146
139
141
124

1. The Communist Party of Canada - Manitoba was deregistered after the 1990 general election and re-registered in 1999.
2. Two additional parties registered in 1999. The Green Party of Manitoba and Manitoba Party.
3. The Libertarian Party changed their registered name to Manitoba Marijuana Party November 8, 2004. Manitoba Marijuana Party changed their registered name to The Freedom Party of Manitoba February
15, 2007. The Freedom Party did not endorse any candidates in the 39th general election and was deregistered effective June 24, 2007
4. Three parties were de-registered after the 1995 general election: Reform Party of Manitoba, Progressive Party of Manitoba and Western Independence Party of Manitoba.
5. The Manitoba Party was deregistered after the 38th general election.
6. The independent candidates have been listed for comparison purpose only.
7. In 2007 there were 196 candidates as three withdrew before election day. In 2011 there were 208 candidates as eight withdrew before election day.

Pursuant to section 19(2)(e) of The Elections Finances Act, registered political parties must endorse at lease five candidates in a general election in order to maintain their registration. All five
registered political parties fielded candidates in the 40th General Election.
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Compliance Assistance
In addition to ongoing compliance support from Elections Manitoba, a total of 20 campaign information sessions were held in Winnipeg, Selkirk and Brandon during the pre-writ and election
period.
The campaign sessions were attended by 251 people, including candidates and official agents.
For the 2011 election, Elections Manitoba developed an electronic record keeping tool that was
made available to political entities wishing to record income and expenses electronically and
then conveniently transfer that information into the filing disks already provided.

Auditor Assistance
Financial statements from candidates and political parties must be accompanied by auditor’s
reports. This was the third general election where auditor information sessions were provided
by Elections Manitoba. Three information sessions were held in Winnipeg to prepare auditors for
their role auditing political financial statements. The auditor sessions were attended by 16 auditors, representing 86% of the candidates (some auditors represent more than one candidate).

Election Financial Statements and Returns
Candidates and political parties must disclose statements of financial activity during an election
to the Chief Electoral Officer. Candidates file election returns which include:
• A statement of income, transfers, and expenses
• A balance sheet outlining assets and liabilities
• A return disclosing non-election expenses
• A return disclosing all contributions from one source that in aggregate are $250 or more
Political parties file similar returns, excluding the balance sheet outlining assets and liabilities.
The filing deadline for the 40th General Election was February 6, 2012.
Upon Elections Manitoba’s review, an amendment to a return may be deemed necessary and an
adjustment would be made to the original return. In such cases, both the original and the final
amended returns are available for viewing at the Elections Manitoba office and online.

Reimbursements
The Elections Finances Act allows qualifying candidates and political parties to be reimbursed for
50 per cent of eligible election expenses. Under the amendments introduced in 2006, the Act
also allows for reimbursement of 100% of reasonable child care and disability expenses. The Elections Finances Act defines reasonable expenses as those that are over and above the expenses
normally incurred by the candidate.
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The candidate must receive a minimum 10% of valid votes in the electoral division to receive a
50% reimbursement of the actual election expenses not including donations-in-kind. In certain
circumstances, depending on the surplus status of a candidate, some or all of the candidate’s
reimbursement is paid to the endorsing political party.
Registered political parties qualify for reimbursement if their endorsed candidates, in total, receive a minimum of 10% of the valid votes cast in the election.
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V

ELECTION PERIOD SPENDING

The total cost to administer the 40th General Election was $11,920,502, which fell within the budgeted
amount.
The above figure represents the financial administration costs for the election, such as returning office
expenses, payroll etc. Campaign finance-related expenditures, such as reimbursements paid to candidates and political parties and subsidies paid to auditors are not included.
The amendment of the Election Fees, Expenses and Rentals Regulation (Tariff of Fees) in September
2010 impacted election period spending. The tariff applies to the rates of pay for Returning Officers and
other officials, as well as voting place rentals and printing of ballots. The revisions to the tariff reflect
the amendments to The Elections Act, including the set date election (necessitating longer employment
terms for ROs, AROs and other field staff), an additional day of advance voting, an additional hour of
voting on election day, longer and more targeted enumeration, and the addition of 4% vacation pay
to wages.

Returning Office Expenditures
This category includes the fees, training and travel costs of election officials in the field and the
cost to operate returning offices. Other costs included are associated with the conduct of the
election within individual electoral divisions. Returning office expenditures account for 78% of
the total administrative costs of the election.

Returning Office Expenditures 19%

Election Officials Travel 5%
Election Officials Training 4%

Election Officials Fees 72%
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Summary of Returning Office Expenditures for all Electoral Divisions

Election Officials Expenditures
FEES:
Advance voting officials

$645,991

Election day voting officials

1,353,249

Enumeration officials

1,802,603

Revision officials

176,128

Office and field support

642,345

Returning and assistant returning officers
Subtotal

1,817,501
$6,437,817

TRAINING:
Enumeration officials
Voting officials
Subtotal

$123,896
276,862
$400,758

TRAVEL:
Advance voting officials
Election day voting officials
Enumeration officials

$ 14,869
91,881
238,077

Revision officials

23,681

Office and field support

58,215

Returning and assistant returning officers

48,268

Subtotal

Total Election Officials Expenditures

$474,991

$7,313,566

Returning Office Expenditures
Equipment rental

376,657

Office rent - including utilities
- Advance

56,301

- Election Day

191,618

- Returning office lease

443,978

Office supplies and expenses

308,174

Professional services

313,926

Total Returning Office Expenditures

$1,690,654

Total Expenditures for all Electoral Divisions

$9,004,220
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Headquarters Expenditures
This category includes the costs associated with providing central coordination, payroll and support to returning offices and to publicize the election as required by legislation. The election
costs associated with The Elections Finances Act, for example conducting financial compliance reviews of election returns as defined by legislation, is also included in this category. Headquarters
expenditures account for 22% of the total administrative costs of the election.

Advertising 26%
Travel 2%

Courier 4%
Furniture and
equipment rental 3%
Office rent and storage 2%
Office Supplies
and expenses5%

Salaries 35%
Professional Fees 23%

Summary of Headquarters Expenditures
Advertising

$765,905

Courier

$126,487

Furniture and equipment rental

$82,492

Office rent and storage

$65,500

Office supplies and expenses

$133,221

Professional fees

$657,862

Salaries
Travel
TOTAL

$1,018,176
$66,639
$2,916,282
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Accounts Processing
During the election period, approximately 9,500 employees and over 1,000 vendors were paid
province-wide, making payroll and accounts processing a significant function of the finance area
during the election. In 2011, the election payroll and accounts processing system moved from
the field to headquarters. The centralization of this process served the dual purpose of freeing up
ROs to focus on the operation of the election, and ensuring accurate and timely processing and
payment of employee timesheets and vendor invoices. All data entry staff were housed in one
location (rather than at 57 returning offices), allowing for more efficient supervision, problemsolving and I.T. support.
Specific goals were set for accounts processing during the election. These goals included enumeration and revision claims being paid by election day and voting officials claims being paid
within two weeks following election day. Likewise, most vendor invoices were received and processed within two months following the election period.
Elections Manitoba will continue to strive for further efficiencies in the financial administration
of elections.

Independent Audit of Election Expenditures
An independent chartered accounting firm, Bulat & Poustie Chartered Accountants, audited the financial records of the returning offices. No matters were identified. A copy of the Auditor’s Report
for the audit of Elections Manitoba Returning Offices — 40th General Election is included in the
appendix along with the financial statements as prepared by Elections Manitoba (Appendix C).

40

MBElctnsAnnlRprt11rev4.indd 40

12-11-14 10:15 PM

VI

LOOKING FORWARD

A period of intensive activity in campaign finance begins in February 2012, as 216 candidates and
five political parties file election returns with our office. After a review process, reimbursements
are sent out to eligible candidates and parties. In addition to election returns, annual returns
from constituency associations and parties are received and reviewed in the first quarter of the
year. (This information will be included in the 2012 annual report.)
The coming year is also a period of evaluation and strategic planning for the 41st General Election, drawing on the lessons learned during the debriefing and evaluation process. All staff participates in a planning session that lays the groundwork for the coming election cycle. Another
major focus is by-election planning and readiness, to ensure that the office is prepared to conduct a by-election in any electoral division in which a seat may become vacant.
Also in 2012, work begins on a new corporate website that will see the existing corporate site
and the stand-alone election site merged into one more efficient and user-friendly site. An IT infrastructure report will review all systems, including hardware and software upgrades to support
the business needs of the office.
Elections Manitoba will continue to promote and deliver education programming to students
and adult learners across the province through the Your Power to Choose program.
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VII

RECOMMENDATIONS

Legislation allows the Chief Electoral Officer to recommend amendments to Manitoba’s electoral law in order
to improve and/or update the electoral process and better serve the electorate. The CEO’s recommendations
are published in Elections Manitoba’s annual reports.
The CEO consults with the Advisory Committees when drafting recommendations; however, what is
ultimately recommended is at the sole discretion of the CEO.
New recommendations arising from the conduct of the 2011 General Election are published here.

A. THE ELECTIONS ACT
1. Leave of Absence for Returning Officers and Assistant Returning Officers. s. 17(2)

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation: Lengthen the leave of absence period in section 17(2) for the returning
officer (RO) and assistant returning officer (ARO) to end the day the writ is returned so that it
allows for the completion of all returning officer and assistant returning officer duties under The
Elections Act.
Background: Currently a leave of absence for returning officers and assistant returning officers
ends the day a candidate is declared elected which is seven days after the election. The very
important task of returning the writ of election, which officially names the candidate to be sworn
in as an MLA, does not occur for seven more days. This additional time allows for a candidate or
voter to make application to the courts for a recount if they believe one is necessary. During this
week there are also reports the RO and ARO must complete, as well as the packing and clean up
of all the election material. Extending the leave will allow more time to complete these tasks.
With a one-week extension, the leave of absence for ROs and AROs would come to an end 14
days after election day for a general election and 10 days after election day for a by-election.
2. Institutional Voting Stations s. 137(1)
Recommendation: Expand the use of institutional mobile voting stations to include facilities
such as assisted or supportive living facilities or any other residential facility operated for the
purpose of the care and treatment of senior citizens to better serve the senior population of
Manitoba. This will increase accessibility to voting for this group of Manitobans.
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Background: Currently, institutional voting stations must be established in health care facilities
and correctional facilities. Health care facilities are defined in The Elections Act as hospitals,
personal care homes and development centres. In today’s environment, many seniors are
opting to live in intermediate facilities that provide services for their needs, such as independent
living facilities, 55+ residences and supportive living facilities. Individuals in these facilities
have differing mobility capabilities and many would benefit from having a voting station in
their building. Under current legislation, a voting station can only be established in multiple
residences of 100 or more units, so residents in many of these facilities are required to travel
to voting locations outside of their building. This occurs often in rural Manitoba when assisted
living accommodations are attached to Personal Care Homes. The establishment of these voting
stations should be identified by the returning officer and approved by the Chief Electoral Officer,
as is the case with additional advance voting locations in section 125(5).
Several other jurisdictions in Canada allow for voting in seniors residences as described above.
They are British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Ontario, Québec, Nova Scotia as well as
Canada.
3. Providing copies of preliminary voters list s. 75 (1)

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation: Expand who may receive the preliminary voters list in a set date election to
include candidates as defined in The Elections Finances Act.
Background: In a set date election the preliminary voters list is completed 8 to 14 days prior to
the issue of the writs and acceptance of nomination papers. Current legislation in section 75(1)
reads that the preliminary voters list must be given to each candidate in the election. A candidate
is defined in The Elections Act as a person whose nomination papers have been accepted by the
returning officer; however, nomination papers cannot be accepted by the returning officer until
after the issue of the writ. A candidate is defined in The Elections Finances Act as a person who is
nominated by a registered political party or a constituency association of a registered political
party as its candidate in the next election in an electoral division.
Further, section 95(1) states a voters list may be used to “assist a registered political party, a
candidate nominated under this Act, a candidate as defined in The Elections Finances Act or a
member of the Assembly to communicate with persons on the list.”
In the last general election, based on section 95(1), we were able to provide the preliminary voters
list to candidates under The Elections Finances Act. However, because the definition of candidate
differs between The Elections Act and The Elections Finances Act, it will clarify the entitlement to
receive the voters list if section 75(1) is amended to read that a candidate as defined under The
Elections Act or The Elections Finance Act is entitled to receive the preliminary voters list.
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4. Absentee Voting s. 140 (4) - 6(b), 143(3 & 4), 146(1)
Recommendation: Change the timeline when returning officers are able to accept an absentee
application and when a completed ballot package can be issued and subsequently returned to
the returning officer. A consequence of this change should allow for a write-in ballot with only a
registered political party name to be an acceptable ballot.
Background: Absentee voting is available for those who will be absent during advance voting and
on election day. Those who take advantage of absentee voting include vacationers, those on business outside the province, students attending school outside the province and members of the
Canadian Forces serving outside the province.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Current legislation for absentee voting directs voters to apply to the Chief Electoral Officer before
an election is called and directly to a returning officer after an election is called. Any applications
in the possession of the Chief Electoral Officer when writs are issued are sent to the appropriate
returning officer.The returning officer ensures all applications are properly completed and the required identification has been supplied.The voter is then issued a voting package which includes
directions, a write-in ballot and the necessary envelopes for returning the completed ballot. If nominations are closed, a list of candidates is also included in the package. If nominations are not yet
closed, arrangements are made to send the final list of candidates to the voter either via email, fax
or phone. It is not until after the voter is made aware of the official candidates that they can return
their ballot to the returning officer. As the legislation in section 146 (1) (f) states that a list of the
candidates must be sent to the voter to complete the voting package “at the close of nominations,”
it implies that a ballot can not be cast until the close of nominations. Voters are then required to
return the voting package to the returning office no later than 8:00 pm on election day.
During a set date election, returning offices are open up to 75 days in advance of election day so that
enumeration may begin. During the last election, due to the earlier awareness of the election, absentee
applications were being received by returning officers long before the writs were issued. Often these
applications were hand-delivered and voters expected to be able to receive a ballot and vote for a
candidate when they made their application, when in fact returning officers had to wait for the writs to
be issued before issuing a voting package. It was reported by returning officers that some voters were
very frustrated because their travel plans did not not necessarily allow them to provide an exact location to which the voting package could be mailed when the writs would be issued.
In order to better serve voters who are utilizing the absentee voting opportunity, the following is
recommended:
•  That applications be accepted by returning officers as soon as enumeration has begun.  Offices in each electoral division are open at that time and are convenient for voters.
•  That absentee voting kits can be issued to voters any time after the preliminary voters list is
complete. Having the preliminary voters list complete will allow for the striking off of the voters name on the list to allow tracking of those who have voted. By having an earlier date than
that of the issue of the writ it will allow for easier movement of the kit to the voter, especially
in overseas locations. Part of the directions to absentee voters would be that they must not
complete or return their voting kit until after an election is called. This would reduce issues
such as delivering ballots to Canadian Forces personnel in places like Afghanistan and having
them returned in time, which has been a challenge in past elections. Elections British Columbia has a comparable recommendation made for similar reasons.
											2011 ANNUAL REPORT
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•  That, due to voting packages being returned before the close of nominations, a write-in ballot
from an absentee voter would be accepted if only a registered political party name is written
on the ballot. British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Nova Scotia, and Newfoundland accept the name of a political party as a valid ballot.
5. Notice of Election s. 51 (2)
Recommendation: Remove the requirement to post the notice of election in each rural voting area.
Background: Current legislation reads that the notice of election must be posted in the returning
office and, if the electoral division contains a rural voting area, in at least one conspicuous place in
that area. Section 51 (3) also allows the Chief Electoral Officer to direct or authorize for additional
notice to be given to the public.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The legislation appears to date back to the 1930s when it was to be posted in two conspicuous
locations in each polling subdivision and also in locations where meetings of municipal council
were held. With modern technology today and the advertising campaign undertaken to promote
election day, the revision period, advance voting and nominations, the physical posting of a notice
in each voting area in the electoral division is less efficient than using technology. It is also increasingly more difficult to get approval from different locations to post the notice in facilities and often
there is a cost associated with the posting.
The following recommendations are carried forward from the 2010 annual report.
1. Set election period
s. 49(1) (c) clause (i)
Recommendation: In 2008 a set election date was established. It is recommended that section
49(1) (c) clause (i) be amended as well to establish a set election period after the writ is issued
rather than a variable period of at least 28 days but not more than 35 days from the issue of the
writ.
Background: A set election date provides for greater service and efficiency in the conduct of elections as well as a more level playing field for all political participants. Eliminating the possibility of
a variable election period would further level the playing field while also providing clarity for all
stakeholders. It would allow for more equitable and efficient management of election expenses
within the spending limits. It would also assist campaigns to better manage expenses incurred
in the non-election period, thereby preventing allocation issues of expenses between reimbursable election expenses and non-reimbursable non-election period expenses. A set election period
would also assist in recruiting election officials and may also assist in the recruitment of volunteer
campaign workers. BC and Ontario also have set election dates and have a set election period of 28
and 29 days respectively.
2. Revision period
s. 77(1)
Recommendation: Shorten the revision period in section 77(1) to end on the third Monday before election day rather than the second Thursday before election day, to provide time to deliver
the official list of voters to locations for the first Saturday of advance voting.
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Background: Section 77(1) stipulates that revision end on the second Thursday before election
day; therefore the revised voters list is completed on the next day, which is the second Friday before
election day. Section 125(5) allows for advance voting to begin in any location the next day, which
is the second Saturday before election day. This makes it very difficult to complete the revised list
of voters, print the official list and deliver it to advance voting locations, which are often a distance
from the returning office, for that Saturday. In many communities, Saturday is an ideal day to hold
advance voting. However, under the current Act, it may not be possible to hold advance voting on
the Saturday, as an official voters list cannot reach distant or remote locations in time.
Even with a shortened revision period there would still be 25 days of revision following 33 days of
enumeration which will allow for a substantial length of time to compile a complete voters list.
3. Access for campaigning
s. 195(1) and 195(5)

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation: To amend the process and requirements regarding access for campaigning
in an apartment, condominium complex, other multiple residence or community, as defined in
sections 195(1) and 195(5) of The Elections Act. Specifically, it is recommended that The Elections
Act be amended to state that individuals be required to produce identification, in accordance
with Section 2 of the Act, as well as documentation confirming that the individual is a candidate
or a representative of a candidate. A further amendment would require that the documentation
be a prescribed form, similar to that required for scrutineers, signed by the candidate or official
agent, designating them as a candidate’s representative. Both the identification and documentation would be presented upon request.
Background: The current legislation states that no one can prevent candidates or their representatives from campaigning in the type of multiple residences or communities outlined in section 195,
provided that they produce identification or documentation. The Act does not stipulate, however,
when the documentation must be presented, i.e. upon request, or what type of documentation or
identification is required.
While Elections Manitoba provides guidelines and suggested forms for identification of candidates’
representatives visiting multiple residence buildings or communities, there is currently no requirement for campaign workers to carry similar forms. Just as scrutineers must carry a prescribed form
signed by the candidate or official agent in order to gain access to voting places, candidates and
their representatives should also be required to carry a prescribed form when campaigning in those
locations described in section 195.
In order to administer this provision efficiently, it is recommended that candidates’ representatives
campaigning at those locations described in section 195 of the EA be required to carry a prescribed
form signed by the candidate or official agent, as well as identification that conforms to section 2
of The Elections Act, and that both the identification and documentation need only be presented
upon request.
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B. THE ELECTIONS FINANCES ACT
The following recommendation is carried forward from the 2010 annual report.
1. Tax registration
s. 25
Recommendation: To extend the tax registration period from the end of the candidacy period to
four months after the election day.
Background: The current section states that an application to register must be made to the Chief
Electoral Officer before the end of the candidacy period in order to issue income tax receipts for
contributions received by a candidate in his or her campaign period. This pre-existing deadline
for registration (end of candidacy period) was clarified in The Elections Finances Act pursuant to an
amendment in Bill 22, 2006.
Tax registration is optional and it was observed in 2007 that a few campaigns did not become
aware of the need to be registered until they began preparation of election returns after the campaign period, which was past the tax registration deadline.
RECOMMENDATIONS

To address this concern and to provide extra time in recognition of the voluntary nature of the role
of an official agent, it is being recommended that the deadline to register be extended to the filing
deadline of the election returns, which will be four months after the election day.
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DRIEDGER,
Myrna

WIEBE, Matt

STRUTHERS,
Stan

LEMIEUX, Ron

MALOWAY, Jim

GRAYDON, Cliff

PETTERSEN,
Clarence

ALLUM, James

IRVIN-ROSS,
Kerri

HOWARD, Jennifer

McFADYEN,
Hugh

BJORNSON,
Peter

NEVAKSHONOFF, Tom

Concordia

Dauphin

Dawson Trail

Elmwood

Emerson

Flin Flon

Fort GarryRiverview

Fort Richmond

Fort Rouge

Fort Whyte

Gimli

Interlake

NDP

Burrows WIGHT, Melanie

Charleswood

PC

HELWER, Reg

Brandon West

NDP

NDP

PC

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

PC

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

PC

NDP

CALDWELL,
Drew

Brandon East

NDP

RONDEAU, Jim

PC

Arthur-Virden MAGUIRE, Larry

Assiniboia

PC

BRIESE, Stu

Agassiz

PARTY

MEMBER
ELECTED

ELECTORAL
DIVISION

12586

14769

14542

14429

12040

14307

9409

12453

13578

14118

13181

12834

14249

11025

14607

13305

14170

14613

13509

6716

9745

9003

8834

7574

9308

3325

5532

7136

8214

8184

6390

8705

5191

8733

7067

8785

7585

6215

53.36%

65.98%

61.91%

61.22%

62.91%

65.06%

35.34%

44.42%

52.56%

58.18%

62.09%

49.79%

61.09%

47.08%

59.79%

53.12%

62.00%

51.91%

46.01%

32

309

478

226

399

111

346

199

308

472

124

177

204

316

215

194

197

710

2031

369

666

510

415

467

321

124

237

755

629

381

280

194

288

411

REGISTERED VOTES TURNOUT CPC-M GPM IND. LIB.
VOTERS CAST

Summary of Results
Manitoba’s 40th General Election

3374

5012

2655

4501

4026

5146

1890

1084

3864

4291

4483

4008

2601

3063

4080

3864

5095

2282

1064

NDP

2903

4210

5594

1770

2908

3052

797

3982

2399

3554

3356

1803

4838

1314

4231

2711

3258

4983

4396

24

14

34

47

36

38

15

34

53

34

15

24

27

26

31

25

29

27

21

6

3

10

7

9

7

2

17

7

14

7

10

12

3

10

10

5

5

7

471

802

2939

2470

1118

2094

1093

2898

1465

737

1127

2205

2237

1749

151

1153

1837

2701

3332

PC REJECTED DECLINED PLURALITY
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JHA, Bidhu

ROWAT, Leanne

MELNICK,
Christine

MITCHELSON,
Bonnie

GERRARD, Jon

BRAUN, Erna
OSWALD,
Theresa

DEWAR, Greg

SELBY, Erin

Radisson

Riding Mountain

Riel

River East

River Heights

Rossmere

Seine River

Selkirk

Southdale

NDP

CHIEF, Kevin

TAILLIEU, Mavis

Morris

WISHART, Ian

FRIESEN,
Cameron

Morden-Winkler

Point Douglas

SWAN, Andrew

Minto

Portage la Prairie

PC

PEDERSEN,
Blaine

Midland

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

Lib.

PC

NDP

PC

NDP

PC

PC

NDP

PC

NDP

MARCELINO,
Flor

Logan

PC

PC

EICHLER, Ralph

PC

SMOOK, Dennis

La Verendrye

Lac du Bonnet EWASKO, Wayne

Lakeside

NDP

BLADY, Sharon

NDP

Kildonan CHOMIAK, Dave

Kirkfield Park

NDP

ROBINSON, Eric

Kewatinook

PARTY

MEMBER
ELECTED

ELECTORAL
DIVISION

15574

14053

14686

15921

14325

15332

15257

14165

14899

13521

11858

15228

14195

11796

14467

10698

13451

13844

13119

15329

14775

10081

10922

7697

10400

9564

10387

10273

9786

7651

9160

6894

5222

7719

5789

5477

7429

5139

7683

8035

7033

10572

8122

3597

70.13%

54.77%

70.82%

60.07%

72.51%

67.00%

64.14%

54.01%

61.48%

50.99%

44.04%

50.69%

40.78%

46.43%

51.35%

48.04%

57.12%

58.04%

53.61%

68.97%

54.97%

35.68%

38

56

53

351

370

274

267

176

331

335

379

290

335

339

94

327

351

295

356

4756

188

480

272

506

579

257

509

173

609

511

868

257

284

351

367

391
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5662

4279

5500

5392

1843

4512

5352

2633

5033

2698

3806

1487

659

3615

1750

2985

1985

3087

1830

4928

4808

2043

NDP

4898

3008

4569

3430

3389

5247

3916

4465

3588

3584

917

5681

4918

833

5139

840

5043

4350

4487

4907

2880

1389

26

33

31

31

26

46

31

14

24

30

23

31

28

24

21

55

13

20

19

28

34

18

9

26

5

4

3

6

7

0

9

3

5

11

11

9

8

3

6

4

11

3

9

4

764

1271

931

1962

1367

735

1436

1832

1445

886

2889

4194

4259

2782

3389

2117

3058

1263

2657

21

1928

654
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NDP

MACKINTOSH,
Gord

GAUDREAU,
Dave

SCHULER, Ron

ALLAN, Nancy

GOERTZEN,
Kelvin

KOSTYSHYN,
Ron

SARAN, Mohinder

WHITEHEAD,
Frank

ASHTON, Steve

REID, Daryl

STEFANSON,
Heather

St. Johns

St. Norbert

St. Paul

St. Vital

Steinbach

Swan River

The Maples

The Pas

Thompson

Transcona

Tuxedo

Tyndall Park MARCELINO, Ted

Totals

ALTEMEYER,
Rob

CROTHERS,
Deanne

St. James

Wolseley

PC

SELINGER, Greg

St. Boniface

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

PC

NDP

PC

NDP

NDP

NDP

NDP

PC

CULLEN, Cliff

Spruce Woods

PARTY

MEMBER
ELECTED

ELECTORAL
DIVISION

777054

12624

11201

14778

15120

10328

13459

13772

12853

12934

13918

16075

13736

13119

14403

14496

13940

433346

7019

5769

9208

7748

3792

4091

7562

7668

6423

8399

9369

8825

6342

8933

8625

6780

55.77%

55.60%

51.50%

62.31%

51.24%

36.72%

30.40%

54.91%

59.66%

49.66%

60.35%

58.28%

64.25%

48.34%

62.02%

59.50%

48.64%

179
0.04%

517

2007

1516

551

120

115

1395

264

440

461

276

883

348

685

606

4229

2596

2330

4488

2586

2995

3894

4280

488

5023

3491

3966

4157

4432

5914

1930

NDP

850

908

4839

2668

1068

959

1943

3078

5469

2876

5554

3935

1405

3414

1537

4495

1604
0.37%

33

17

26

30

18

19

43

41

14

29

38

34

28

16

31

27

440
0.10%

22

4

6

11

0

3

6

5

12

10

10

7

12

9

7

9

2861

589

2509

1820

1518

2036

1951

1202

4981

2147

2063

31

2752

1018

4377

2565
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10886 215 32418 199069 188535
2.51% 0.05% 7.48% 45.94% 43.51%

1368

237

491

281

392

377

530

319
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Candidates and Official Agents in the 2011 General Election
ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Agassiz

Arthur-Virden

Assiniboia

Brandon East

Brandon West

APPENDIX B

Burrows

Concordia

Charleswood

CANDIDATE

AFFILIATION

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

OFFICIAL AGENT

Storey, Kate

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

-

Sallows, Gary

Liberal

Sallows, Jackie

11G-01-02

Sagness, Amity

NDP

Dearing, Kevin

-

Briese, Stuart

PC Manitoba

Loos, Brian

11G-01-01

Cliff, Murray

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

-

Draper, Garry

NDP

Draper, Holly

-

Maguire, Larry N

PC Manitoba

Martens, Kyla

11G-02-01

Sheng, Anlina

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

-

Bokhari, Moe

Liberal

Bokhari, Asifa

-

Rondeau, Jim

NDP

Samain, Chad

-

Auch, Susan

PC Manitoba

Vernon, Ryan

11G-03-01

Fleury, Vanda

Green Party of Manitoba

Fleury, Debbie

-

Cameron, Shaun

Liberal

Cameron, Peter Glen

-

Caldwell, Drew

NDP

Chaboyer, Jan

-

Waddell, Michael

PC Manitoba

Barker, D’Arcy

11G-04-01

Buri, George

Liberal

Rodrigue, B. J.

11G-HQ-17

Murray, Jim

NDP

Murray, Jonathan

-

Helwer, Reginald Reinhold

PC Manitoba

Shuttleworth, David

11G-05-01

Komarniski, Frank

CPC-M

Taylor, Andrew

-

Peepeetch, Garett

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

-

Motkaluk, Twyla

Liberal

-

Wight, Melanie

NDP

Morningstar, Brendan
William
Carmen, Chris

Negrych, Rick

PC Manitoba

Kroeker, Pietra

11G-06-01

Poirier, Ryan

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

Oyeleru, Isaiah

Liberal

Connelly, Cecilia

Wiebe, Matt

NDP

Still, James

Warraich, Naseer Ahmed

PC Manitoba

Nagpal, Usala

11G-HQ-22

Hoeppner, Dirk

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

-

Ostrove, Matthew

Liberal

Ostrove, Benji

11G-HQ-30

Beckta, Paul

NDP

Dyck, Corey

-

Driedger, Myrna

PC Manitoba

Tasker, Tom

11G-07-01

-
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Dauphin

Dawson Trail

Elmwood

Emerson

Flin Flon

Fort Garry- Riverview

Fort Rouge

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Friesen, Tamela

Green Party of Manitoba

Hardy, Karen Gail

Tessema, Sisay

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Struthers, Stan

NDP

Law, Kim

McKinney, Lloyd James

PC Manitoba

Keeler, Sean Jeffrey

11G-09-02

Hoskins, Sandra

Liberal

Sawka, Terry W.

11G-10-03

Lemieux, Ron

NDP

Peña, Don

Tetrault, Laurent (Larry)

PC Manitoba

Courcelles, Yvette

Eskritt, Ray

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

Dratowany, Anthony

Liberal

de Jong, Sheila

Maloway, Jim

NDP

Schulz, Randal E.

Hutten, David

PC Manitoba

Lee, Jamie

Belliveau, Michelene

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Fiddler, Lorie

NDP

Urbanczyk, Mark P.

Graydon, Clifford

PC Manitoba

Reimer, Glenn Steven

Harvie, Saara

Green Party of Manitoba

Brown, Crystal

Heine, Thomas

Liberal

Sethi, Poomidevi

Pettersen, Clarence

NDP

Winters, Blaine

Linklater, Darcy Bryon

PC Manitoba

Hunter, Colleen

Backé Daniel

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

Freedman, Kevin

Liberal

Grantham, Dwayne

Allum, James

NDP

Wojczynski, Ed

Rabb, Ian

PC Manitoba

Pinchin, Rick

McIntyre, Caitlin

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

Hiles, Dustin

Liberal

Axford, Tomah

Irvin-Ross, Kerri

NDP

Oakley, Sandra R.M.

McCaffrey, Shaun D’Arcy

PC Manitoba

Smith, Peter

Weedon, Stephen

Green Party of Manitoba

Romanow, Jacqueline

Hesse, Paul

Liberal

Komarnicki, Peter R.

Howard, Jennifer

NDP

Dinsdale, William

Dominique, Sonny Francis PC Manitoba

Milton, Paul

11G-09-01

11G-10-01

11G-HQ-15
11G-11-01

11G-12-01

11G-HQ-20
11G-HQ-19

11G-14-01
11G-14-03
APPENDIX B

Fort Richmond

CANDIDATE

11G-15-03
11G-15-01

11G-16-01
11G-HQ-10
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Fort Whyte

Gimli

Interlake

Kewatinook

Kildonan

APPENDIX B

Kirkfield Park

La Verendrye

Lac du Bonnet

CANDIDATE

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Tsai, Chae

Liberal

Sugawara, Michael W.

11G-HQ-06

Dhaliwal, Sawinder

NDP

Dearing, Kevin

McFadyen, Hugh

PC Manitoba

Leon, Brian

11G-17-01

Whiteman, Glenda

Green Party of Manitoba

Winstone, Don

11G-18-03

Einarsson, Lawrence

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Bjornson, Peter

NDP

Tole, Don

Wharton, Jeffrey

PC Manitoba

Wharton, Michael

Zasitko, John

Independent

Lindal, Jennifer

Ratt, Albert

Liberal

Ratt, Deanna

Nevakshonoff, Thomas
George

NDP

Rudyk, John William

Lupky, Steve

PC Manitoba

Kaprawy, Dennis E.

11G-19-02

Green, Philip

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pam

11G-20-04

Woodford, Orville

Liberal

Woodford, Alice

Robinson, Eric

NDP

Wheeler, Tanis

Birch, Michael

PC Manitoba

Mackay, David

Sagriotis, Dimitrius

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Chomiak, Dave

NDP

O'Keeffe, Kieran

Penner, Darrell Grant

PC Manitoba

Fiks, Myron

Gray, Alanna

Green Party of Manitoba

Klassen, Valerie

Bokhari, Syed

Liberal

Bokhari, Nawazish (Raza) 11G-HQ-16

Blady, Sharon

NDP

Boyd, Sandy

de Groot, Kelly

PC Manitoba

Trussler, Candace

Gibson, Janine

Green Party of Manitoba

Cunningham, Murray
Andrew

Guetre, Monica

Liberal

Main, Cheryl

Tallaire, Maurice

NDP

Tallaire, Lisa

Smook, Dennis

PC Manitoba

Smook, Laurel Gwen

11G-23-01

Green, Dan

Green Party of Manitoba

Klassen, Valerie

11G-24-04

Millen, Charlett

Liberal

Goodmanson, Katherine

Spence, Elana

NDP

Sears, Edna

11G-24-02

Ewasko, Wayne

PC Manitoba

Stairs, Philip H.

11G-24-01

11G-18-01

11G-19-01

11G-HQ-31

11G-21-01

11G-22-01

11G-HQ-25
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Lakeside

Logan

Midland

Minto

Morden-Winkler

Morris

Portage la Prairie

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Kehler, Betty

Green Party of Manitoba

Coté, Ashley

11G-HQ-29

Funk, Jerald

Liberal

Funk, Connie

11G-HQ-11

Hnatiuk, Rosemary

NDP

Peters-Hnatiuk, Stefan

Eichler, Ralph

PC Manitoba

Jeske, Barry

Tymoshchuk, David

CPC-M

Taylor, Andrew

Andrews, Kristen

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

Chan, Joe

Liberal

Love, David

11G-26-03

Marcelino, Flor

NDP

Empaces, Renee T.

11G-26-02

Krawetz, Tyrone L.

PC Manitoba

Klassen, Al

11G-26-01

Jeffers, Leah

Liberal

Jeffers, Larry

11G-27-02

Théroux, Jacqueline

NDP

Cenerini, Paul A.

11G-27-01

Pedersen, Blaine

PC Manitoba

Henderson, Dave

11G-HQ-04

Carr, Cheryl-Anne

CPC-M

Taylor, Andrew

Dyck, Harold

Green Party of Manitoba

Dyck-Sprout, Jennifer

Woodstock, Don

Liberal

Brenna, Lance

Swan, Andrew

NDP

Collings, Thomas

Squance, Belinda

PC Manitoba

Sigmundson, Kristina

Woldeyohanis, Daniel

Liberal

Axworthy, Bob

McDowell, Aaron

NDP

Dearing, Kevin

Friesen, Cameron

PC Manitoba

Friesen, Robert J.

Mailhot, Janelle

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Alli, Mohamed

NDP

Dearing, Kevin

Taillieu, Mavis

PC Manitoba

Hyde, Robert

Rankin, Darrell

CPC-M

Taylor, Andrew

Pun, Teresa

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

Bourgeois, Mary Lou

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Chief, Kevin

NDP

LaForte, Trevor

Vernaus, John

PC Manitoba

McFeetors, Rikke

11G-31-01

Cudmore-Armstrong,
Michelle

Liberal

Wiebe, Kathleen

11G-32-01

Kostuchuk, James

NDP

Porter, Randolph

Wishart, Ian

PC Manitoba

Bennett, Don

11G-25-01

11G-HQ-13

11G-HQ-14

11G-29-01

11G-HQ-12
APPENDIX B

Point Douglas

CANDIDATE

11G-31-02

11G-HQ-05
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Radisson

Riding Mountain

Riel

River East

River Heights

Rossmere

APPENDIX B

Seine River

Selkirk

CANDIDATE

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Robert, Shirley

Liberal

Sawka, Terry W.

11G-33-01

Jha, Bidhu

NDP

Milne, Kim

Penner, Desmond

PC Manitoba

Witzky, Derek

11G-33-02

Knutson, Signe

Green Party of Manitoba

Lahaie, Nicole

11G-34-03

Hyde, Carl

Liberal

Hyde, Diana

Parsons, Albert

NDP

Nicholson, William A.

11G-34-02

Rowat, Leanne

PC Manitoba

Neufeld, Helmut

11G-34-01

Gilarski, Cheryl

Liberal

Chisholm, Steven

Melnick, Christine

NDP

Adeleye-Olusae, Adelana

Squires, Rochelle

PC Manitoba

Shead, Guy

Mitchell, Kelly

Green Party of Manitoba

Wilmot, John

Pelda, Chris

Liberal

Neufeld, Darlene

Penner, Kurt

NDP

Deslaurier, Joanne

Mitchelson, Bonnie

PC Manitoba

Debenham, Peter

11G-36-02

Cameron, Elizabeth May

Green Party of Manitoba

Penelton, Kayla

11G-37-02

Gerrard, Jon

Liberal

Findlay, Elizabeth

11G-HQ-09

Manning, Dan

NDP

Gowenlock, Karl

11G-HQ-28

Morantz, Martin

PC Manitoba

Morantz, Richard

11G-HQ-07

Maydaniuk, Evan

Green Party of Manitoba

Maydaniuk, Allan S.

11G-38-02

Belliveau, Rene

Liberal

Baker, Jon

Braun, Erna

NDP

Wittevrongel, Barry

Sidhu, Kaur (Karl)

PC Manitoba

Watson, Mike

11G-38-01

Osiname, Troy

Liberal

Strachan, Leisha

11G-39-01

Oswald, Theresa

NDP

Siles, Colleen

Steeves, Gord

PC Manitoba

Clarke, Lea

Courchene, Marilyn

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Dewar, Greg

NDP

Schmidt, Neil

Bell, David

PC Manitoba

Rapko, Connie

11G-35-01

11G-36-01

11G-39-02

11G-40-01
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Southdale

Spruce Woods

St. Boniface

St. James

St. Johns

St. Norbert

St. Paul

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Singh, Amarjit

Liberal

Mehta, Pravinsagar G.

11G-HQ-26

Selby, Erin

NDP

Stephen, Susan

Eastman, Judy

PC Manitoba

Smith, David W.

11G-41-01

Zazalak, Trenton

Liberal

Zazalak, Janelle

11G-HQ-24

Szczepanski, Cory

NDP

Graham, Ian

Cullen, Cliff

PC Manitoba

DeBaets, Maureen

Landry, Alain

Green Party of Manitoba

Moreau, Michael

Gross, Brad

Liberal

Yielding, Loretta

Selinger, Greg

NDP

Bruun, Anders

Clark, Frank

PC Manitoba

Phelan, Charles

11G-43-02

Vandale, Trevor

Green Party of Manitoba

Fuller, Billy G A

11G-44-01

Allard, Gerard

Liberal

Matthews, Lisa

11G-HQ-21

Crothers, Deanne

NDP

House, Terrance

Gillingham, Scott

PC Manitoba

Dreger, Freda

11G-HQ-08

Weinberg, Alon

Green Party of Manitoba

Wilmot, John

11G-45-03

Mueller, Trevor

Liberal

Shatkosky, Sheryl

11G-45-01

Mackintosh, Gord

NDP

Lancaster, Phil

Larkin, Ray

PC Manitoba

Molinari, Nerino

Laurendeau, Marcel

Liberal

Gauthier, Antonio

Gaudreau, Dave

NDP

Gaudreau, Gerry

Velthuys, Karen

PC Manitoba

Goodridge, Ken

11G-46-03

Grollé, Ludolf

Liberal

Connelly, Cecilia

11G-47-03

Ryan, Cynthia

NDP

Rajfur, Cheryl

11G-47-02

Schuler, Ron

PC Manitoba

Hay, Cameron

11G-47-01

Wolbert, Harry

Liberal

Wolbert, Valerie

11G-HQ-18

Allan, Nancy

NDP

Girouard, Monica

Brown, Mike

PC Manitoba

Watt, Douglas Donn

11G-42-01

11G-43-01

11G-48-01
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CANDIDATE
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ELECTORAL
DIVISION
Steinbach

Swan River

The Maples

The Pas

Thompson

Transcona

APPENDIX B

Tuxedo

Tyndall Park

Wolseley

CANDIDATE

AFFILIATION

OFFICIAL AGENT

REGISTRATION
NUMBER

Fehler, Lee

Liberal

Fehler, Heather

11G-HQ-27

Gutierrez, Dalydia

NDP

Dearing, Kevin

Goertzen, Kelvin

PC Manitoba

Hamm, Doug

Cook, Reynold

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Kostyshyn, Ron

NDP

Solomon, John

Powell, David William

PC Manitoba

Pacak, Stan

11G-50-01

Redekopp, John

Green Party of Manitoba

Chow, Chiu Ling

11G-51-02

Sarinas, Pablito

Liberal

Santiago, Amalia P.

11G-51-01

Saran, Mohinder S.

NDP

Brar, Janmeet Singh

Tomas, Jose

PC Manitoba

Gobenciong, Patricio

Tessema, Girma

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Whitehead, Frank

NDP

Jackson, Amy

11G-49-01

11G-51-03

McDonald, William Alfred PC Manitoba

Lee, Kathryn

11G-52-01

Dillen, Ken

Liberal

Mulholland, Lyle S.

Ashton, Steve

NDP

Allan, Margaret

Campbell, Anita

PC Manitoba

Chaboyer, Naomi (Dee)

Jashyn, Faye

Liberal

Sokoliuk, Christopher

Reid, Daryl G.

NDP

Carney, Raymond G.

Stapon, Craig

PC Manitoba

Ashton, Charlene

Benham, Donald

Green Party of Manitoba

Benham, Donald Bruce

Minuk, Linda

Liberal

Shaffer, Yale

11G-55-01

Al-Zargani, Nadhim

NDP

Keerala, Nadya

11G-55-02

Stefanson, Heather

PC Manitoba

Sprague, Trevor

11G-55-03

Koshelanyk, Dean

Green Party of Manitoba

Koshelanyk, Dennae

11G-56-05

Sevillano, Roldan C.

Liberal

Connelly, Cecilia

11G-56-01

Marcelino, Ted

NDP

Evangelista, Noemi

11G-56-02

Aglugub, Cris

PC Manitoba

Molinari, Nerino

11G-56-03

Beddome, James

Green Party of Manitoba

Sanford, Pamela

11G-57-01

Stewart, Eric

Liberal

Trochim, Dennis

Altemeyer, Rob

NDP

Turton, Marjorie

Turka, Harpreet

PC Manitoba

Turka, Jarnail

11G-HQ-01

11G-HQ-23

11G-HQ-02
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An independent office of the Legislative Assembly/Un bureau indépendant de l’Assemblée législative

Management Report

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management’s opinion,
the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding necessary estimates and all other data available.
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is reliable and accurate and that assets are properly safeguarded. Staff of Bulat & Poustie
view internal controls, and report their findings to management.
The responsibility of Bulat & Poustie is to express independent, professional opinion on whether
the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion.

Shipra Verma, CA					Tracy Nylen
Deputy Chief Electoral Officer				
Manager of Elections Finances
Winnipeg, Manitoba
July 29, 2012

120 - 200 Vaughan Street, 120 - 200 rue Vaughan
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 1T5
Phone/Téléphone : 204.945.3225 Fax/Télécopieur : 204.945.6011
Toll-free/Sans frais : 1.866.628.6837
email/Couriel : election@elections.mb.ca
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE DEPUTY CHIEF ELECTORAL OFFICER
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Elections Manitoba Returning Offices - 40th General
Election, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2012 and the statement of operations
for the period July 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with Section 201 of
The Elections Act (Manitoba), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statement is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statement. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statement, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statement in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Elections
Manitoba Returning Offices - 40th General Election as at March 31, 2012 and the results of its operations for the
period from July 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 in accordance with Section 201 of The Elections Act (Manitoba).
Other Matter
Elections Manitoba has prepared a separate financial statement of statutory expenses for the year ended March
31, 2012 in accordance with Section 201 of The Elections Act (Manitoba) and Section 99.1 of The Elections Finances
Act (Manitoba) on which we issued a separate auditor’s report to the Agency dated July 29, 2012.
									BULAT & POUSTIE
July 29, 2012
Winnipeg, Manitoba 							CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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ELECTIONS MANITOBA
RETURNING OFFICES - 40th GENERAL ELECTION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable
LIABILITIES
Bank indebtedness

$

1,566

$

1,566
-

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

-

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

$

-

APPENDIX C

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
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ELECTIONS MANITOBA
RETURNING OFFICES - 40th GENERAL ELECTION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2012

$

376,657
56,301
191,618
443,978
308,174
313,926

LESS: STATUTORY FUNDING ALLOCATION
$

645,991
1,353,249
1,802,603
176,128
642,345
1,817,501
400,758
474,991
9,004,220
9,004,220
-

RECOMMENDATIONS

RETURNING OFFICES OPERATING EXPENSES
Equipment rental
Office rent and utilities
Advance
Election day
Returning office leases
Office supplies and expenses
Professional services
Salaries and benefits
Advance voting officials
Election day voting officials
Enumeration officials
Revision officials
Office and field support
Returning and assistant returning officers
Training
Travel

APPENDIX A
APPENDIX B
APPENDIX C
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ELECTIONS MANITOBA
RETURNING OFFICES - 40th GENERAL ELECTION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2012
1. ENTITY DEFINITION
	Elections Manitoba is an independent office of the Legislative Assembly for the Province of Manitoba.
	These financial statements reflect the financial activity relating to the operation of the
57 provincial Returning Offices for the 40th General Election. These costs are required to
fulfil statutory obligations under The Elections Act.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	These financial statements are in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards and reflect the following policies:
Financial Instruments
		
Fair market value
			The carrying value of financial instruments consisting of accounts
receivable and bank indebtedness approximate fair value due to their
short term maturity.
Use of Estimates
		The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Canadian public
sector accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities (and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities) at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement
uncertainty and actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

3. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

APPENDIX C

	A statement of cash flows has not been presented, as it was determined that there was
no significant value added to the financial statements by preparing the statement.

66

MBElctnsAnnlRprt11rev4.indd 66

12-11-14 10:15 PM

